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‘No one can foresee war. It comes down like a thief in the night’
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Introduction


He stood around 180 centimetres tall, just a little short of the old six-foot mark. The blue eyes in the square-jawed, ruggedly handsome face regarded you directly, searchingly. The mobile, bushy eyebrows held your attention. The grip was firm, conveying a hint of the strength of the arms and shoulders. The expression on the face was friendly but serious. You knew at once that he meant business. If you were a friend, or a potential friend, he would greet you with an engaging grin.


When he was a young man, his hair was a fair brown colour and his build wiry. In his twenties and thirties he grew a luxuriant Edwardian moustache, which vanished forever in 1914. By his forties he had filled out, and was solid but not heavy. In his fifties the hair greyed and thinned a little. Towards the end of his life, the body filled out a little more. Throughout his life, you knew you were in the presence of a big, powerful man who often seemed bigger than he actually was.


He was always, even in the most difficult of circumstances, well turned out. He could wear a uniform on Gallipoli, a three-piece suit in Canberra, or a top hat and tails at a war commemoration ceremony in Canada with the same easy grace.


He was a Christian of the Presbyterian variety but he enjoyed a drink, a smoke, and a joke. He was master of the salty phrase (but never in front of the ladies). The way he said, ‘I’ll twist his tail’ could make you grin and spring into action at the same time.


He was a man of strong feelings but these were always kept under a tight rein. The face, especially the eyebrows, was expressive. He could also get your attention by adroit use of the left elbow. The voice, with its attractive masculine timbre, was that of an Australian with some education.1 He did not speak much, though, unless he had something to say. Then he spoke directly and to the point. When aroused, he could hold the floor with a flow of animated opinion. When required, he could entertain from a fund of stories about former Prime Minister ‘Billy’ Hughes.
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Will Rowell, Portrait of Sir William Glasgow, 1939. (Photo courtesy of The Queensland Club)


William Glasgow was, successively, a child on a small farm; a schoolboy in a gold-mining boom town; a scholar in a grammar school; a bank clerk; a grocer in the family business; a grazier; a politician; a diplomat; an investor; and a company director.


This variety of occupations alone would have given him an interesting, if unremarkable, life, but there was something else. From the time he was a teenager in the school cadet corps, he was conscious of the duty of every man to defend his colony and his country. At the age of sixteen he became a citizen soldier and, in a time of peace, began to prepare for war.


Even as a young man he understood that war is always lying in wait.


‘Much as we desire the evolution of a scheme which will ensure peace,’ he once said, ‘we cannot ignore the fact that throughout the world there are many nations whose ideals, whose culture and aspirations are entirely divergent - so much so as to constitute a menace to peace.’2


He understood that, more often than not, war catches people off guard.


‘No-one can foresee war,’ he said. ‘It comes down like a thief in the night.’3


He was, as usual, right. Three times in the first fifty years of the twentieth century, war came down. Each time, he was among the first to reach the recruiting depot.


The part-time interest took over and dominated his life. As a result, enough lead whistled around his ears to slay Billy the Kid, Wyatt Earp, Ned Kelly and Bold Jack Donohoe several times over. Save for a bloody encounter with a shrapnel ball on Gallipoli, he walked through it all.


He was a man of action, not a literary type, but there was one poet he greatly admired. Rudyard Kipling articulated Glasgow’s ideals, especially in the poem ‘If’.


If you can keep your head when all about you


Are losing theirs and blaming it on you,


If you can trust yourself when all men doubt you,


But make allowance for their doubting too;


…


If you can fill the unforgiving minute


With sixty seconds’ worth of distance run,


Yours is the earth and everything that’s in it,


And – which is more – you’ll be a Man, my son!4


Glasgow’s part-time occupation placed him in many a situation in which to heed the poet’s advice. When the Boers attacked the British in South Africa in 1899, Glasgow was one of the first Australians to respond to the call to arms. He went as a lieutenant and came back with a DSO. When Germany invaded Belgium in 1914 and Great Britain and Australia declared war, Glasgow was with the first Australian convoy en route to the source of the trouble. He went as a major and came back as a major general, with a chestful of medals and a knighthood.


In 1939 a new war, World War II, once again caught the free world unprepared. A new generation of the Glasgow family responded. Mary, daughter of Glasgow’s brother Alex, went to the Middle East as a volunteer nursing aid.5 Derek, Duncan and Gordon, sons of another brother, David, tumbled into the army and were in Egypt for the New Year of 1940.6 Their sister Margaret became a Matron, a commissioned officer, succouring the wounded throughout the war in London, North Africa and Queensland, where she met her future husband, a Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) airman who had survived capture and imprisonment by the Nazis.7 Noel, son of Will’s brother James, finished up in Balikpapan, Borneo. Noel’s brother, Graham, was killed, aged just twenty-one, when an RAAF Dakota went down near Akyab, Burma, just as the war was ending.8


Where possible, the younger generation sought their Uncle Will’s advice in relation to this new war. Harry’s son, Jack, called on Sir William in his office in Brisbane.


‘Everyone is scared in war,’ Glasgow told his nephew. ‘You just don’t show it.’9


He told another relative:


‘If and when you get a commission you will want to see that your men are well cared for, that they are not messed about and that you are firm but just in your dealings with them. I am sure you will know your job and if you stick to those few principles you will find the men will respect you and give you their loyalty.’10


Soon after writing these words, on a hot and humid day in December 1939, Sir William and Lady Belle Glasgow11 were standing on the South Brisbane railway station platform surrounded by friends and relatives. Once more Glasgow was departing for war service; this time he was going to Canada as Australia’s first High Commissioner. Glasgow’s son-in-law was among the crowd. Glasgow noticed the third pip on his shoulder and congratulated him on his promotion to captain.


‘How old are you now, Byron?’ he asked.


‘Forty, sir,’ Byron replied.


‘Yes,’ Glasgow said, and the eyebrows twitched a bit. ‘I was appointed general at the same age!’12


Glasgow was like that.


What follows is the story of how one Australian responded when war came down like a thief in the night.
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1


Schoolboy


The Mary River, in south-eastern Queensland, rises in the Conondale Range fifty kilometres north of Brisbane and runs northwards, parallel to the Australian coast, for 300 kilometres until it debouches, through the port of Maryborough, into the estuary between the coast and Fraser Island. About twenty-five kilometres upstream, south-west of Maryborough, is the village of Tiaro. A further fifty kilometres upstream is the town of Gympie. This is a land both of droughts and of flooding rains and, usually late in the summer, Gympie has many times been inundated when the Mary runs a banker.


Between the river and the sea lies the most delightful country imaginable, including woodlands of banksia, cypress pine and scribbly gum, rainforest, lakes and waterways. Along the coast, variegated sand cliffs overlook seas of an intense blue-green colour.


The climate is subtropical, with mild winters and humid summers, making for easy living. Between Brisbane and Wide Bay lie the modern-day coastal playgrounds of Maroochydore and Noosa. The Mary Valley itself is rich farming country, suitable for dairying, cattle, fruit and vegetables and plantations of timber.


This was Sir William Glasgow’s native land, the part of the world that, for the first thirty-seven years of his life, he called home. He was born at Tiaro, educated at Gympie and Maryborough and lived for most of his early life in Gympie, which he regarded as his home town. The Mary Valley was the country of his childhood.


When Thomas William Glasgow was born on 6 June 1876, it was little more than a century since Captain James Cook had discovered the eastern coast of ‘New South Wales’ and claimed it for Britain.1 It was little less than a century since Captain Arthur Phillip had run up the Union Jack at Sydney Cove on 26 January 1788 to begin the work that would make the modern nation of Australia. Only fifty-two years before Glasgow’s birth, John Oxley, the New South Wales surveyor general, had fixed the site for a small convict settlement for ‘hard cases’ at Moreton Bay, thus laying the foundations of the city of Brisbane.


The convicts (about 1,000 over fifteen years) were removed from Brisbane in 1839, and in the 1840s free settlers moved north into the Moreton Bay district, eager to fatten sheep on the unfenced pastures. The settlers moved from the downs to the Brisbane Valley and then into the Mary and Burnett Valleys. Others began to settle the Queensland coast. Maryborough developed from 1843 as the port to service the northerly sheep runs. It eventually became a major point of entry for migrants, with a customs house, bond store, warehouses, banks, shops, hotels, boarding houses and a grammar school.
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T W Glasgow’s father, Samuel Glasgow. (Photo Glasgow family collection).


The climate proved too hot and wet for sheep, but cattle thrived in this country. In 1859 the colony of Queensland officially separated from that of New South Wales and established itself with Brisbane as its capital and its own governor and legislature. The self-confident Queensland colonials numbered, at this time, a mere 25,000.


The confidence was justified, because these pioneers were British subjects and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland was the most powerful nation on earth. Its navy was the biggest and most modern in the world. Its army, though small by continental standards, was professional and accustomed to keeping the peace in a score of trouble spots in the British Empire, the greatest empire that the world had ever seen.


Every British schoolboy, including the sons of Britannia in the colonies, knew of the great military and naval victories, soon after the turn of the century, which had secured Britain’s pre-eminence. Everyone knew the signal Lord Nelson had sent prior to the battle of Trafalgar in 1805: ‘England expects that every man will do his duty.’2 Everyone knew what the Duke of Wellington had said after the battle of Waterloo in 1815: ‘It has been a damned nice thing – the nearest run thing you ever saw in your life!’ Some might have seen a painting of the charge of the Scot’s Greys in that battle, the nostrils of the horses flaring, the wild-eyed cavalry charging, raised swords gleaming. In that famous charge, the greys scattered the French ranks and then, themselves in disorder, attempted to retire. The counterattacking French cavalry cut a great many of them down.
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T W Glasgow’s mother, Mary Trotter Anderson Glasgow. (Photo Glasgow family collection).


In 1859 Queen Victoria had been reigning for twenty-two years and England was at peace, although only a few years previously, in 1854, war had come down in the Crimea. At Balaclava in October the Light Brigade made a disastrous charge on the Russian guns. ‘Theirs not to reason why, Theirs but to do and die, Into the valley of death Rode the six hundred. …’3 wrote the poet laureate, Alfred, Lord Tennyson.


In Italy in June of 1859, the forces of King Victor Emmanuel and Napoleon III of France clashed with those of Austria at Magenta and then at Solferino. They won costly victories, which led, within two years, to the proclamation of the new nation of the Kingdom of Italy.


The new town of Brisbane, Queensland, Australia, was far distant from these conflicts. To Brisbane, on 28 May 1863, aboard the Golden Dream, came an adventurous young man from Northern Ireland. Samuel Glasgow had been born at Moneyguin, County Armagh, on 12 May 1841.4 He was one of many British immigrants who now poured into Queensland in search of their own golden dreams.


On the other side of the world, in the United States of America, 1863 was the year of Gettysburg. Early in July Confederate General Robert E Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia, invading Pennsylvania, stumbled into Major General George C Meade’s Army of the Potomac. Lee’s cavalry General, JEB Stuart, had led a brilliant raid around the Union ranks but this left Lee without his ‘eyes and ears’. As the battle developed, Lee drove in Meade’s right, forcing him to take up a defensive position along the hilltops south of Gettysburg. The next day Lee attacked Meade’s left, but the Union forces managed to hold off the Confederates. On the third day, in the afternoon, Lee charged Meade’s centre, but the Confederate artillery had run out of ammunition prior to the charge, and it failed. The battle was over, and so too, it turned out, was the Confederate hope of victory in the war.


The US Civil War ended in 1865, but in Europe the brilliant Prince Otto von Bismarck, Prime Minister of Prussia, was demonstrating how to use blood and iron to win short, sharp wars. In 1864 Prussia and Austria defeated Denmark and readjusted the boundaries of Schleswig and Holstein. Then in 1866 Prussia turned against Austria, which it crushed at Sadowa.


Then came the Franco-Prussian War. Beginning in August 1870, Prussia defeated France in battle after battle. Trapped at Sedan, the French cavalry attempted to charge their way out against the new and deadly Prussian rifles. After hundreds had fallen, the survivors retreated, eventually to surrender. The Prussians cheered their enemy’s gallantry. After a battle at Villers-Bretonneux, the Prussians besieged Paris and, early in the New Year, forced its surrender. All these Prussian wars had been won in a matter of months, if not weeks. They set a seductive and dangerous precedent.


Intoxicated with success, Wilhelm I of Prussia was proclaimed German Emperor at Versailles on 18 January 1871. A new, powerful and supremely confident nation announced its arrival on the world scene.


In far-off Queensland Sam Glasgow had ‘buckled down to the pioneer job of clearing the forbidding scrub off farm land in the Mary River district.’5 Despite its pleasant appearance, it was not so easy to wrest a living from this land. By 1863 settlers had established a number of farms along the banks of the Mary around Kooringa. Tiaro itself, the farthest point of possible navigation, was surveyed in 1864.


On 12 September 1864 Sam Glasgow married Matilda Armstrong, but less than three years later, on 12 May 1867, Matilda died, leaving Sam with a very young daughter, Elizabeth. She had been born on 10 March 1866 on Sam’s farm at Blackmount, Tiaro, on the Mary River.6 Sam had no choice but to place the child with a Christian charity at Rockhampton.


In October 1867 a prospector from the Tiaro district, James Nash, discovered gold among the abundant stinging shrubs along the Mary River. The Aboriginal name for the tall tree-sized bushes with their rigid stinging hairs, Gimpi Gimpi, stuck, and the town of Gympie burgeoned almost overnight.7 The rush was on. Gympie grew so rapidly that there was no time for a town plan. The main street, Mary Street, to this day meanders like a bullocky’s track, which was how it began.


Like everyone else, Sam was eager to seek his fortune, but every horse had been commandeered. Undaunted, Sam bought a barrow and walked to Gympie, where he worked hard and made some money. Before long, he was an investor in various mining ventures.


Tiaro developed as a stopping point between Maryborough and Gympie. By 1869 Tiaro had a hotel, a blacksmith, a butcher, a post office, a police station and a general store. A school was established in 1870, and by 1881 the railway from Maryborough had reached the town.8


On 17 December 1868 Sam married Mary Trotter Anderson.9 Mary was the daughter of British immigrants living at Tiaro. She had been born on 13 May 1850 in Macclesfield, Cheshire. Her father was a Scot10 who became foreman with the Tiaro Council. Both parents are now buried in the Tiaro cemetery. A photograph exists showing what are believed to be Mary’s parents. The father is wearing a military uniform.


The first thing Sam and Mary did was to collect the baby Elizabeth. Elizabeth was brought up as a full sister to the later children, who, at the time, had no idea that her mother was not their mother.
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Glasgow family store, Gympie.


The family lived on the farm, now called ‘Upton Bank’. 11 Sam, the only son of an only son, now proceeded to father eleven more children. Mary was young but active, and possessed of a strong personality. Their first child, born in 1869, was named John. (He would die of pneumonia aged only nineteen.) In 1872 a second boy, Samuel Henry (Harry), was born, followed by a daughter, Nora Jane, in 1873. On 6 June 1876 their third son was born. They named him Thomas William, but the Thomas soon became redundant and was later used only by those who did not know him well. His family called him Will or Willie, soldiers sometimes called him ‘Plugger Bill’, and he is known to history as Sir William Glasgow.


Less than three weeks after Glasgow’s birth, on the other side of the world, in Dakota Territory, USA, thirty-six-year-old Lieutenant Colonel George Armstrong Custer led his 7th US Cavalry against a gathering of Indians in the valley of the Little Bighorn River. In midafternoon of 25 June 1876 the impetuous Custer, with 200 troopers, charged the largest Indian encampment ever assembled. In a short, running fight 2,000 warriors surrounded and massacred him, his relatives and his soldiers to the last man.
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Samuel Glasgow’s residence from 1894 on Red Hill. (Photo Angus McDowall).


T W Glasgow was the last of Sam and Mary’s children to be born at ‘Upton Bank’. Sam now became overseer of the ‘Antigua’ sugar plantation near Tiaro, where some of the earliest Queensland sugar was being grown by Kanaka labourers. The Glasgow family moved to ‘Antigua’, where two more children were born, Alexander in 1878, and George in 1881.


The little community around Gympie worked to establish a good life, but there were tensions and unpleasant incidents that reminded them that they were living on the edge of civilisation. One homesteader couple was found dead at the entrance to their property. They had been attacked and slashed with a heavy instrument, probably a machete.


One day when the Glasgow menfolk left to collect supplies in Maryborough, Mary found herself alone with the children in the homestead. Some of the Kanaka labourers came around carrying their machetes.


‘Sam, get the gun!’ Mary called out, knowing full well that Sam was too far away to hear. The Kanakas fled. 12


In Europe and the United States at this time, there was killing of humans by humans on a large scale. Nothing on this scale occurred in Queensland, but violent killings did take place. At the time of Glasgow’s birth, Queensland was still a frontier society.


The Encyclopaedia of Aboriginal Australia has this to say:


In their eager rush north and west, the settlers trampled over Aboriginal culture. To ensure their flocks had unlimited grazing, they shot or poisoned many thousands of Aborigines, often annihilating entire groups. The Aboriginal people did not meekly submit to this invasion, and in some districts they resisted fiercely. Whenever they did, punitive expeditions were sent out after them, and thousands were ruthlessly slaughtered. 13


The encyclopaedia, however, cites only three specific instances. At the Hornet Bank pastoral property 300 kilometres west of Maryborough, on 27 October 1857, an Aboriginal raiding party attacked at dawn, raped Mrs Martha Fraser and two other women, slew her and seven of her nine children, the children’s tutor (whom they castrated) and two white station hands. Posses formed and, with the Native Police, ‘combed the district and began the first of many massacres to occur over succeeding weeks.’ An unknown number were killed. 14


At Cullinlaringo Station, forty kilometres south of Emerald, in October 1861, a party of warriors killed the Wills family and most of their workers, a total of nineteen people. Within hours, settler posses had been formed. Squads of Native Police arrived within days. The Queensland Governor later advised the Colonial Office that seventy Aboriginal deaths had resulted. ‘This figure did not include the killings by the settler groups, which continued roving the district for months.’15


In far north Queensland, at ‘Battle Camp’, in October 1873, a party of Aborigines attacked the camp of 130 miners who, protected by Native Police, were wending their way to a newly discovered goldfield. The Aborigines ‘fell in numbers before Snider rifles.’16


Keith Windschuttle has argued that the estimates of violent deaths of Aborigines at the hands of whites have in most instances been ‘unsubstantiated guesswork’. He notes the conclusion of Henry Reynolds that 400 Europeans were killed in southern and central Queensland between 1841 and the 1870s, and a further 420-440 in Northern Queensland between 1861 and 1897. He does not accept Reynolds’ ‘guess’ that the ratio of Aboriginal deaths to whites ‘may have been’ ten to one. He expects the eventual accurate compilation of black deaths to be much smaller than that now posited by some historians because, among other things:


The notion that the frontier was a place where white men could kill blacks with impunity ignores the powerful cultural and legal prohibitions on such action. For a start, most colonists were Christians to whom such actions were abhorrent. But even those whose consciences would not have been troubled knew it was against the law to murder human beings, Aborigines included, and the penalty was death. 17


It is sufficient to note here that the Queensland of the pioneer Sam Glasgow was a frontier society where settlers might have been attacked by Aborigines and that many did go armed as a result, as did their contemporaries in the US ‘Wild West’.


Not long after the incident with the Kanakas, the Glasgows moved down to Gympie where Sam, with Mary’s help, established a store-keeping business. Two advertisements from The Gympie Times of 1903 and 1911 give an idea of what they sold. One reads: ‘S Glasgow & Sons General Grocers & Produce Merchants. Mining requisites always in stock. Local Agent for George Craddock & Co celebrated steel wire ropes’. The other states: ‘S Glasgow & Sons Grocery, Produce, Crockery, Hardware, Cutlery, Merchants’. The store sold anything and everything that a miner or farmer could use.


Sam and Mary established the store, and a next-door house for the family, on the top of Red Hill, safe from the river’s perennial flooding. Stowed under the house was enough high explosive to blow the whole box and dice to kingdom come. The family was not surprised when Will’s brother Alex later wound up as the Queensland State representative for the explosive manufacturer, Nobel’s.


The business, and Sam’s ventures into mining investment, prospered and the children kept coming – David (1883), James (1885), Robert (1887), (Mary) Ethel (1890) and (Agnes) May (1892). The two sisters shared with their brothers Harry and Will the characteristic of being known forever by their second name.


In 1894 Sam built a new, big house for the large family at 36 Red Hill Road, just down from the original house and store. It was built of red cedar, native beech, Kauri pine and tallowwood, and set on more than 2,000 square metres of land. There were generous Victorian fireplaces, bullnose iron verandas and a hallway arch. Though recently renovated, it stands there to this day. The boys slept out on the veranda until they left to make lives of their own. The three sisters, Nora, Ethel and May, never married. They stayed in the house on Red Hill until the day they died, Nora in 1962, May in 1980 and Ethel in 1981.
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Maryborough Grammar School, the boy seated far right is believed to be T W Glasgow. (Maryborough Grammar School).


The children of the Glasgow brothers were always welcome to stay with the three aunts. They would stay for extended periods to attend the One Mile State School, not far away down the steep hill from the Glasgows’ home. Each sister specialised in an aspect of housekeeping. One was a good cook, another an immaculate house cleaner and the third washed and ironed the clothes. Noel Glasgow (Sir William’s nephew) recalled that, after a bath, the children would find their clothes laid out on the bed, the shoes polished, the shirts beautifully ironed. This was the high standard set in the Glasgow household. TW Glasgow maintained it all of his life. He brought back from World War I a trunk that could be stood on its end and opened to reveal a set of drawers on one side and hanging space on the other. This was one way in which Glasgow always managed to appear immaculate.


It was a close-knit, supportive family, and throughout his life TW Glasgow always looked out for his brothers and sisters, especially the sisters. Within the family circle his feelings were strong. He had a sense of responsibility towards them all. Whenever he came back to Gympie he would make sure that those living there were all right. No matter how high he rose, he never forgot them. He did not stand on ceremony with his brothers, but was always ‘one of the boys’. When his brother, Alex, died in Gympie in 1952, Sir William attended the funeral, which was held in Brisbane. Afterwards, the men adjourned, in time-honoured fashion, to the Queensland Club. Alex’s daughters Mary and Jean stayed on for a time in Gympie with their mother. Jean, then working in the National Bank in Brisbane, returned to work a few days later and her uncle arranged to visit her. She was conscious of her uncle’s steely reputation. She reminded herself to keep a stiff upper lip when he called, but when they did meet it was not Jean but the general who broke down. Jean and Mary remembered a letter (now lost) that Will had written to his brother after Alex had been wounded on Gallipoli. It was deeply warm and loving. When it came to his family, Will let his feelings show.
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Thomas Anderson, T W Glasgow’s Scottish grandfather (in QMI uniform). (Photo Glasgow family collection).


The colonials flooding into Queensland brought with them a strong culture. They had the know-how to herd animals and to grow crops, to mine and refine minerals and to build grand buildings. Although this was frontier territory, townships grew rapidly. Houses and storehouses, schools and churches sprang up.


The Glasgows, Sam and Mary, shared that reformed brand of Christianity known as Protestant. Sam’s roots were in the north of Ireland where generations of Protestant migrants had come from Scotland and England, from the time of Elizabeth I, to settle (or be ‘planted’) in a land that had been converted to Catholicism by St Patrick from 432 AD. To this day, the men of Northern Ireland commemorate the victory of Protestant William of Orange over Catholic James II in the Battle of the Boyne in 1690.


Mary’s roots were in Scotland, where John Knox had preached the ideas of Calvin. The Scottish Parliament made Presbyterianism the state religion in 1560. Presbyterianism is an especially sober and egalitarian form of Christianity. Ministers are equal in rank, and lay elders participate equally with ministers in the administration of the church. The bible is the final authority in religious matters. Presbyterianism eschews pomp and ceremony, and is simple, ‘muscular Christianity’. Noel Glasgow recalled that a Sunday spent with the Glasgow sisters was usually very quiet, sober and reflective, not really the ideal holiday for a vigorous youngster.


Sir William Glasgow was a strong Presbyterian. In later years he was a founding member of the Society of St Andrew. He was inclined to be suspicious of Catholics. 18 The plain-living, hard-working nature of Presbyterianism is evident throughout his life. In his biography John Monash, Geoffrey Serle several times refers to Glasgow as ‘strait-laced’. This has an element of truth, but it is far from a complete picture. Nevertheless, Glasgow’s religion played a vital underlying role in all he did.


Another influence on Glasgow’s character was his education. The Queensland State Education Act of 1875 provided for a Department of Public Instruction under a Minister and a system of primary schools. A primary school was established in Gympie at the ‘One Mile’, and to this the Glasgow children were sent. Will attended school from 1883. The headmaster was a Mr McLeod, whom the children called ‘Daddy’. He had a tremendous influence on all the Glasgow boys. By the end of 1889, Will, aged thirteen years, had completed his primary schooling and was ready to move into a wider world.


So Glasgow grew up in a mining town at a time when the values of the frontier were still evident. His early years on the farm contributed to his sturdy physique and hardihood. In his large family with many brothers he was already learning to command men. His parents’ religion and their discipline gave Glasgow a code by which he lived his life, a firm sense of right and wrong. As a result, he set high standards for others and even higher ones for himself.
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2


Trooper


In 1890, Glasgow moved to Maryborough as a boarder at Maryborough Grammar, established in 1888. It was non-denominational, ‘a boarding school after the general scheme of the British Public School,’ as Glasgow later described it.1 A photograph exists of the boarders taken about this time. The young headmaster, Mr James Thomson,2 and his wife, probably in their early forties, lean forward eagerly. The boys are neatly dressed in long socks and knickerbockers. The lad at the extreme right of the photo, the one with the square, large head, who looks serious, is believed to be young Will.


At Maryborough Grammar Glasgow studied Science, English, Mathematics (Arithmetic, Geometry and Algebra), French and German (and a little Latin), History and Geography, Dictation and Essay and Shorthand. His first results show Will struggling a bit, but displaying plenty of energy. In his final results at the end of 1893 he topped the class in Mathematics, was near the top in English, French and Science, and did creditably in the other subjects.3


Most of the Glasgow brothers went to Maryborough Grammar, at least for a time. This was when a secondary education was by no means standard, and is an indication that the Glasgows could afford to delay joining the workforce and that they valued education. By the standards of the day, Glasgow received a solid grounding.


Another factor in forming Glasgow’s character might have been the spirit of the times. The Victorian age was a more chivalrous age than our own. There was greater consensus on what it meant to be a gentleman and to act chivalrously. Love of Christianity and of the land of one’s birth; the development and use of military skills to protect the weak; the willingness to die if must be to champion right against evil and injustice; no flinching in the face of the enemy; gallantry to women – all these were the chivalric, knightly values with which the late Victorians were familiar.


During the years 1890-93, when Will Glasgow was a scholar at Maryborough Grammar School, one activity in which he was passionately interested was the School Cadet Corps. Many years later he asked Major James Thomson, his old headmaster and cadet master, for a reference. On 25 June 1910, Thomson responded:4


I have pleasure in stating that Captain TW Glasgow was one of our Cadets in the Grammar School Corps from August 1st 1891 to the end of the year 1893. The corps was then a very big one, and the commandants on every occasion were loud in their praises of both of [sic] the physique and the drill of the cadets.


Glasgow was then a most efficient cadet, good at drill and a good shot. If he had been a little longer at the school he would have been elected to a section commander, as in many cases he took the place of an absent one.


His character was excellent and I have the highest regard for him.5


This marked the beginning of what would be a lifelong avocation of Glasgow’s. He was determined to defend his colony, his country and the values and way of life that were part of his heritage.


The youth’s imagination was fired by accounts of the great cavalry actions of the past, and he avidly read all he could on the subject. In less than a decade he would find himself involved in one of the last great British cavalry actions – the relief of Kimberley in South Africa – and would later ride with the British cavalry in further operations.


By this time Australia’s non-Aboriginal population was around three million. In the hundred years since settlement, there had been a few scares, but no direct threat of attack on the Australian colonies. Nor, since Waterloo, had there been any dire defence problems for the Empire, on whose navy and army the colonies counted for defence.


Great Britain had been at war with Russia in the Crimea in 1854 and there was further trouble with Russia over Afghanistan in the 1880s. Russian ‘scares’ led to the formation of both paid militia and volunteer and cadet corps along the British model in the Australian colonies.


The other potential trouble spot was Africa, ‘the Dark Continent’, which missionaries and explorers were bringing into the light. For Britain, there were two vital areas of Africa – the Cape of Good Hope and the Suez Canal. The former had long been of strategic importance to Britain. The latter was new, but the importance of both had repercussions for the schoolboy in Queensland.


Suez opened in 1869 and immediately became vital to Britain. By 1870, more than two-thirds of shipping tonnage using the canal was British. In 1875 Britain purchased shares in the canal from the Khedive of Egypt. The canal drew Britain into Egypt and further south. In 1881 there was a Nationalist uprising in Egypt led by Arabi Pasha. In 1882 Garnet Wolseley defeated the Egyptian Nationalists at Tel-el-Kebir in the south of Egypt and occupied Egypt and the Sudan.


[image: image]


William Glasgow, Wide Bay Mounted Infantry, 1890s. (Photo courtesy John Oxley Library, Qld 34397).


In 1883 the Mahdi defeated an Egyptian force and in 1884 General ‘Chinese’ Gordon went to Khartoum to negotiate with the Sudanese. The Mahdi rejected his proposals, led his dervishes on nearby Omdurman and captured it. Then, on 26 January 1885, he captured Khartoum and killed Gordon. The death of the famous Gordon came as a shock throughout the British Empire. New South Wales sent a contingent to assist, but the British left the Sudan; it would not be until 1898 that General Horatio Kitchener6 defeated the dervishes at Omdurman. The Gordon incident caused the colonies to revive their military forces.


From 1860 a number of artillery, marine, infantry and mounted infantry forces had been established in Queensland. These included a range of volunteers and a small permanent garrison. In 1883 an Imperial officer, Lieutenant Colonel GA French, was appointed as Commandant of Queensland’s Defence force. French set about reform.7


Under the Queensland Defence Act of 1884 four regimental and three other divisions were formed, including the Wide Bay and Burnett Regimental Division with A Company at Maryborough and B Company at Gympie. A volunteer mounted infantry unit, the Gympie Volunteer Mounted Rifle corps, was raised, which in 1886 became the Gympie Mounted Infantry.8 Also established at this time were the Moreton Mounted Infantry (from Brisbane and surrounding areas) and other bodies at Bundaberg, Mackay, Rockhampton and Townsville. In 1889 the Gympie Mounted Infantry merged with the Bundaberg Mounted Infantry to form the Wide Bay Mounted Infantry. These men were initially unpaid volunteers but eventually merged into the militia forces, paid in accordance with their part-time service.9


In 1885 Queensland had passed the Militia Act, ‘nominally enrolling every fit man … into a defence force … imposing on those who did partial military discipline, [and] setting training and terms of service, all in return for pay.’10 The troops wore, from the experience of the British in India, and in Africa, khaki uniforms and slouch hats. Tactics drew on the experience of the First Boer War. The British had annexed the Boer state of Transvaal in 1877, but in 1881 the Boers revolted, defeated the British in battle, and forced recognition of their independence.11


One man who was prominent in this military revival was Percy Ralph Ricardo. Ricardo had been born in England in 1855 to a family with military associations. He had served in the Royal Canadian Artillery before migrating to Australia and managing a cattle station in Queensland. He then became a businessman in Brisbane. The patriotic Ricardo joined the Queensland Volunteer force in 1884, transferred to the Queensland Defence force in 1885, and joined the permanent staff in 1891.


In 1891 a great shearers’ strike took place in Queensland. This episode has often been seen from the point of view of the shearers. From this perspective, the great positive outcome was the creation of the Australian Labor Party (ALP).12 There was, however, another point of view, and Ricardo took it.


Ricardo commanded the 1st Regiment of Mounted Infantry sent to Clermont to impose law and order. He exhorted his volunteers to ‘protect their hearths and homes’ from the strikers and he meant it. As unionists were being sentenced, Ricardo let rip with a string of obscenities. He was fined £1. Many never forgot or forgave Ricardo for his role in the strike, and there was, from then onwards, a body of opinion looking for an opportunity to bring him down.


In 1893, TW Glasgow left school and found work as a clerk with a Gympie mining company. Fresh from his cadet training, he joined the Wide Bay Mounted Infantry. This then consisted of two companies, with headquarters at Gympie and a detachment at Maryborough. The companies were each commanded by a captain with two lieutenants, eight NCOs, four specialists (farrier, etc.) and forty-eight privates. The numbers of all ranks tended to vary a little from year to year.


In 1894 Glasgow moved from the mining company to the Gympie branch of the National Bank of Queensland,13 where he would remain for seven years. He continued in his leisure time with the mounted infantry, training mainly around Gympie. As it turned out, the training that he received here was exactly appropriate to the next war that the British would fight, and the Queenslanders were excellently placed to join in.


Long before that, however, Glasgow would volunteer for his first military task – that of defending the civil power. In 1894 there was a renewed outbreak of unrest on the pastoral properties. There had been a downturn in pastoral conditions, and shearers’ wages, which had been increased, were reduced to the old rate. The result, in June, was strike action. The success of the strike depended upon the solidarity of the strikers and their ability to prevent non-union (‘scab’) labour from taking their place. This was easier said than done. Non-union labour was plentiful. Not only were there shearers from interstate willing to work for the stipulated pay, but many New Zealanders were also available.


From early in the season, feelings began to run high. Fourteen million sheep were waiting to be shorn. Some hundreds of shearers, many of them armed, camped by the billabongs along the waterways around Winton. They gathered wherever a station owner was attempting to sign up labour. At Oondooroo Station, near Winton, a man who stepped forward to accept the new shearing conditions was felled and mobbed. A policeman and the station owner settled the mob by presenting rifles and threatening to shoot the first man who advanced.14 Elsewhere, shearing started, but woolsheds began to mysteriously go up in flames. Ayreshire Downs, which stocked 160 000 sheep, was the first to go. Fifteen mounted and armed men formed a cordon around it as it burned at midnight. Two shots were fired at a man who attempted to douse the flames.


‘Remember “91”,’ one of the arsonists called, as they spurred their horses into the darkness.


A leaflet was circulated, advocating a fund to buy rifles and ammunition, guerrilla tactics and the ambushing of ‘blacklegs’.15 At midnight on 22 July the woolshed at Redcliffe Station near Hughenden burnt to the ground, destroying eighty bales of wool.
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Shearers’ Strike 1894, some mounted infantry. (Photo courtesy, Stockman’s Hall of Fame and A McDowall).


Early one morning a crowd was milling around a building at Coombemartin, which was being used to sign up shearers for Wellshot Station near Longreach. A ‘scab’, ignoring howls of rage and abuse from the union leaders, broke ranks and went in to sign up. A second man had just moved forward when a shot rang out. The second ‘scab’ fell, wounded in the side and groin. A burly policeman at the front of the crowd turned to see a silver revolver raised and smoking. He drew his own revolver and hurled himself at the offender, knocking him down and sending the silver revolver flying. The suspect was taken into custody.16 Such was the shearers’ code of solidarity, though, that the wounded man himself swore that it was the policeman who had shot him. The policeman was charged and the court case dragged on for many months. In the end, the policeman was vindicated and the miscreant convicted. The wounded man survived.


As the winter of discontent dragged on, slowly the sheep were being shorn. The unionists grew desperate. More sheds burnt. The shed at Murweh Station went up on 8 August and the sheep in the shed were burnt. A week later, the shed at Eroungella Station, out from Kyabara, burnt down. Many in the colony began to wonder what would happen in the summer when the grassland dried out.


Then there came a night of madness.


It was after midnight on Sunday 2 September when shots rang out on Dagworth Station, a hundred kilometres north-west of Winton on the upper Diamantina, and adjoining Ayreshire Downs. Bullets pierced a hut where the station owners, the three Macpherson brothers, were sleeping. The Macphersons were excellent bushmen and horsemen, and not the type to surrender easily. As boys in Victoria, they had been present when Morgan the bushranger held up their father’s station and, next morning, was shot dead. They roused themselves, seized their rifles and rushed into the darkness to protect their property and their lives. They were joined by three station hands and a constable assigned to guard the property. The wife and daughters of one of the men huddled, terrified, in one of the huts.


Shot after shot rang out. The owners later calculated that each side had fired at least forty times at the other. Suddenly the woolshed went up in flames, but it was too dangerous to attempt to douse it. A shadowy group, estimated at fifteen or sixteen horsemen, galloped away from their shelter in the creek bed. The night once again became silent. Light rain began to fall and the flames died down. The people at the station had survived the terrifying night unharmed.17 Their plans to begin shearing their 80,000 sheep went up with the flames.


Next day the police raided the shearers’ camp (twenty kilometres away) under the Coolibah trees along the waterholes of the river. They found there a man who had been shot dead, a shearer by the name of Hoffmeister, a South African by birth, a unionist and a known troublemaker. The suspicion was that he had been killed in the fracas of the night before, but his comrades eventually convinced the police that it was a case of suicide, a defiant act meant to signify that, ‘You’ll never take me alive.’


For the Queensland Government, this ‘battle’ was the final straw. This was insurrection! The government moved swiftly to draw up a ‘Peace Preservation Act’. Under the Act, the Governor-in-Council could declare certain districts proclaimed districts and could appoint a District Magistrate. Fire arms could be prohibited, except as authorised, and constables and designated peace officers could arrest without warrant anyone carrying arms and ammunition in contravention of the Act. The authorities called for volunteers for a force of some fifty riflemen to carry out their intent. Will Glasgow’s older brother, Harry, aged twenty-three, was by this time a struggling grazier. He decided to join up. Eighteen-year-old Will Glasgow did not hesitate. He decided to join his brother in the fight for law and order. As he would thereafter, whenever there was ‘heavy lifting’ to be done, Glasgow stepped quietly into the arena.18


A man of fine character, William Edward Parry-Okeden,19 was appointed District Magistrate for the proclaimed Flinders District. He set off, accompanied by two companies of mounted troops, one commanded by his son, Lieutenant Uvale Parry-Okeden and the other by Captain HG Chauvel, who had also played a prominent part in bringing law and order to the 1891 incident. Henry George (Harry) Chauvel, nine years older than Glasgow, was from a grazing family on the Clarence River, in New South Wales. The family moved to the Darling Downs and Chauvel was commissioned in the Queensland Mounted Infantry in 1890. In 1896 he would gain appointment in the Queensland Permanent Military Forces, the prelude to a long and distinguished military career which would see him associated with Glasgow many times.20


Soon the force was assembled and shipped to Rockhampton, which they reached on 14 September. Here they entrained at once for Longreach, to be sworn in as Special Constables. At Longreach, they mounted horses for the ride to Winton. Photographs exist of some of these men. They are clad in riding breeches and knee-high boots with a waist-length jacket and broad-brimmed hat. Slung around the shoulder is an ammunition bandolier. There is a saddle holster for their rifles. They look as if they mean business.


The nearer the troopers drew to the scene of the action, the more the strikers’ enthusiasm waned. By this time, close to ten million sheep had either already been shorn or were in the process of being shorn. Another million had been reserved for free labour.21 Most of the shearers recognised that further resistance was hopeless. Parry-Okeden’s conciliatory, man-to-man approach also proved vital. The strike ended without a whimper. The troopers patrolled the district for months, Chauvel’s men around Longreach and Uvale Parry-Okeden’s around Winton, but they had not been called on to fight. Subsequently, the worst of the offenders were tried and convicted.
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Queensland Contingent to Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, 1897, under command of Major H V King; Corporal T W Glasgow is sixth from left of main body. Captain H V Chauvel is second in command immediately behind King. Taken in Brisbane (probably at the old Wool Stores, New Farm), prior to departure.


Memories of this incident lived on for fifty years. Feelings ran high on both sides. Some unionists and Labor men never forgave. The young TW Glasgow had made his own political position clear, and he never wavered from it. He had chosen that side of Australian politics which places individual initiative above the collective.


This was in September 1894. Around Christmas that year a young Melbourne lawyer was visiting the station on which the ‘battle’ had occurred. The attractive daughter of the station owner took him out to the scene of the shearers’ camp. Later that evening she played from memory a tune on the piano. She had recently heard it, but was unsure of its name or origin. The young lawyer, being a bit of a scribbler, wrote words for the song. He had in mind not only the recent incidents, but also a poem by a contemporary poet about the 1891 strike. That poet, Henry Lawson, had warned that, if the workers’ grievances were not attended to, ‘blood would stain the wattle’. Now the young lawyer, whose name was AB Paterson, sometimes known as ‘Banjo’, took up the theme of the clash between the squatter and the itinerant.22


Oh there once was a swagman, camped in the billabongs,


Under the shade of a Coolibah tree;


And he sang as he looked at the old billy boiling,


Who’ll come a-waltzing Matilda with me?


The poet described how the swagman grabbed a ‘jumbuck’ and threw him into his ‘tucker bag,’ but then when confronted by the authorities, drowned himself in the billabong. In the poet’s line ‘Up came the troopers – one two three’ Glasgow, metaphorically at least, had written himself into Australia’s ‘unofficial national anthem’. He did so from the point of view of the near invisible victors in the conflict. It was characteristic of the whole of his life. In a quiet, almost self-effacing way, he acted to effect the outcome he required. History would go his way. In everything he attempted to influence, he would be among the victors, not the victims, and he attempted to influence almost everything.


Young Glasgow returned from the north and went back to work in the bank. Gympie had settled down. It was a prosperous little town of about 5,000 inhabitants. Money flowed in from mining and agriculture. The large Glasgow family was representative of the town. Sam Glasgow was busy with his business deals and investments. Mary ran the store. The three daughters helped around the house and in the store. The boys, riding in on their horses to some weekend military-style tent-pegging exercise, set many a female heart aflutter. Another solid citizen, a Scottish miner, Andrew Fisher, lived there in a comfortable little wooden cottage that can still be seen today, because Fisher became Prime Minister of Australia. There was also a newspaper, The Gympie Times, and its owner, Jacob Stumm, was another typical citizen of the town. Jacob had been born in Germany, but had come to Australia as a toddler. He was literate, enterprising and hardworking. He established the newspaper and saw it become a success. Jacob’s attractive daughters, Isobel and Elsie, who might occasionally be glimpsed shopping or at some social function, were a further sign of the civilised quality of the place.


One of Glasgow’s chores was to take to the other banks the cheques that the National Bank of Queensland received. In doing this he made the acquaintance of a bank clerk from another bank, a youth by the name of Brudenell White.23 The two lads put their heads together and made the strategic decision to share the workload. In this way the future Minister for Defence and future Chief of the General Staff halved their individual tasks.24


Not too long after this, White was accepted into the regular army, while Glasgow remained in the militia. White recalled that Glasgow’s Light Horse hat carried a splendid emu feather and White’s did not - but White had a scarlet tunic for ceremonial occasions and Glasgow did not. When Glasgow, the militiaman, came into the Brisbane barracks for instruction by White, the regular, there was plenty of ‘horseplay’ mixed with the work.


‘It was not easy to get the best of Glasgow – either at horseplay or at work,’ White recalled.25


Later their paths diverged. It would not be for long.


In 1897 the disparate mounted units in Queensland were reorganised as the Queensland Mounted Infantry (QMI), raised by Major Ricardo, who was promoted to lieutenant colonel. Brisbane was the headquarters of A Company. Then followed B Company (Hemmant), C (Ipswich), D (North Pine), E (Gatton), F (Gympie), G (Warwick), H (Toowoomba), I (Clifton), K (Rockhampton), L (Townsville) and M (Mackay). Ricardo drilled the regiment into a well-trained force, up-to-date with modern tactics.


Up in Gympie, the evenings and weekends were devoted to amateur soldiering. F Company, its strength hovering around fifty including all ranks, practised its tactics. Wherever he went, Glasgow would survey the countryside. ‘Now how would I take that hill?’ he would ask himself.26


He was good at his soldiering, very good, and before long he was rewarded for his zeal. There was a new government in Britain, and its colonial secretary was Joseph Chamberlain. Chamberlain set out to consolidate the empire and to find ways to include colonial governments in Britain’s plans. The year 1897 was the sixtieth anniversary of Queen Victoria’s accession to the throne, and grand plans were made for her Diamond Jubilee. The highlight would be a magnificent procession through the streets of London. Invitations went out to all corners of the globe requesting military contingents for the parade. In Queensland, there were twenty-one mounted infantry vacancies. In characteristic fashion, Corporal Will Glasgow stepped forward and secured one of them. Captain Harry Chauvel was included and the contingent was commanded by Major HV King.27
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QMI Contingent, Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, London 22 June 1897. TW Glasgow is at right of second rank and HG Chauvel at left of front rank. (Photo Getty Images # 51728668).


There is a photograph of the contingent taken outside a wool store in Brisbane before their departure for the ‘Mother Country’. They are wearing riding breeches and knee-high boots, hip-length jackets, shoulder bandoliers and a slouch hat with an emu feather, first adopted by the QMI during the 1891 shearers’ strike. Sixth from the left is twenty-year-old Will Glasgow, tall and straight and serious in expression.


So it was that, on 6 June, in the English summer of 1897, Glasgow came of age in London, the great metropolis about which native-born Australians had heard so much, the hub of Empire. The colonial troops were housed in the Chelsea barracks and well looked after. There were 950 colonials, Australians and Canadians, Rhodesians and New Zealand Maoris, and colourfully uniformed detachments from India, China, Ceylon, Malaya and other distant corners of the earth. They found that they had, as honorary colonel, the famous Lord Roberts of Kandahar. Field Marshal Lord Roberts was sixty-five, had won a VC during the Indian Mutiny of 1857, had served with distinction in Abyssinia and Afghanistan, and had risen to become Commander in Chief in India and then Commander in Chief of British forces in Ireland. On 19 June, Roberts held a review of the colonials on the Thames embankment, and led them on a rehearsal march to the West End.


The procession was to take place on 22 June. The colonials and Dominion of Canada troops had the task of leading the procession, forming an escort to the colonial premiers. The colonials were to form up on the Horse Guards Parade and at 10.00 a.m. march past Buckingham Palace. The Queen’s entourage would form up in Bird Cage Walk and follow the colonials. The colonials were then, by special order of the Queen, to form up near St Paul’s Cathedral to witness the procession and the Queen’s arrival. After the conclusion of the religious ceremony, the colonials were to bring up the rear of the procession as it returned to Buckingham Palace. On 20 June there was a rehearsal by the troops. A large crowd cheered them.


Over the next day, people poured into the capital from the provinces. At noon on 21 June, the Queen herself arrived at Buckingham Palace from Windsor, cheered all the way. Crowds thronged the night streets, which were ablaze with illuminations. The dome of St Paul’s, lit by an electric searchlight, shone like a great silver globe, and that night, from Cornwall to Caithness in Scotland, 3,000 bonfires blazed. As early as 2.00 a.m., people were taking their places along the route. In the event, it was estimated that fully two million people witnessed the procession.


On the appointed day the weather, though fine and warm, was dull. At 8.00 a.m. the colonial procession formed up on the Thames Embankment. At 9.00 a.m., accompanied by the colonial premiers in cocked hats and court uniform, they arrived at Buckingham Palace. The march commenced. The huge crowd cheered.


Lord Roberts, leading the whole procession, was greeted with special enthusiasm.


‘Bravo Bobs!’


‘Remember Kandahar!’


Thunderous applause greeted the colonials. Then came the royal procession itself: a long detachment of trotting blue jackets followed by sixteen carriages carrying the Royal Princesses. Eight cream-coloured ponies, with mounted postilions and outriders, drew the Queen’s landau. The Prince of Wales and the Dukes of Connaught and Cambridge accompanied it on horseback. Indians in turbans with huge elephants followed. The Queen bowed and smiled and, all along the route, the well-behaved crowd roared and burst spontaneously into the national anthem.


At 11.20 a.m., as the colonials arrived and massed up at their station in front of St Paul’s Cathedral, they were received with a wild ovation.


‘Bravo, Canada!’


‘Good old Australia!’


‘Cooee!’ someone yelped.


The heat and tension were such that some in the crowd fainted. Here and there a soldier keeled over. A little after noon, the Queen arrived just as brilliant sunshine broke forth. All across the Empire, the Queen’s Diamond Jubilee was being celebrated. Young Will Glasgow from Gympie, in the line of colonial horsemen outside St Paul’s, had a ringside seat. He could see the small crowned figure in the black brocade dress in her open carriage as she arrived, and could hear the wild applause that greeted her.28


The Queen remained in her carriage outside the Cathedral throughout the service. The bishops presided over the prayers. The immense choir, accompanied by two bands, led the singing. The choir, the royal princes, the foreign envoys and the populace, concluded with the ‘Old Hundredth’ psalm.


All people that on earth do dwell,


Sing to the Lord with cheerful voice:


Him serve with mirth, His praise forth tell,


Come ye before Him and rejoice.


The Archbishop of Canterbury pronounced the benediction. When the archbishop called for three cheers, Glasgow witnessed scenes of delirious enthusiasm. Formal ceremony went by the board. The bishops themselves waved their caps and joined in the shouts of loyalty. The Queen’s cheeks were wet with tears.


In twenty minutes the service was over. The great procession wended its way back to Buckingham Palace with the colonials as the rearguard. At one point they passed the survivors of Balaclava on a special stand. Then the captains and the kings departed and the horsemen returned to their barracks.


Glasgow was on top of the world. In the following days the colonial soldiers were treated to a night at the Lyceum Theatre, a machine-gun display and lunch provided by the Maxim-Nordenfelt Guns and Ammunition Company, and a voyage on the steamer Koh-I-Noor to witness the grand review of the British fleet, a magnificent and inspiring spectacle. The next day they went on board the ships themselves. Finally, there was a review at Aldershot at which the Queen took the salute. The colonials were among the 30,000 troops taking part. The weather was brilliant, fine and warm. The colonials, under Lord Roberts, led the parade.


A day later, 2 July, the Queen inspected the colonials from the East Terrace at Windsor. She took a great interest in all the details, and especially praised the mounted riflemen. There were twenty marquees for the men’s lunch, while the officers were entertained in the castle.


On 3 July the Prince of Wales inspected the colonials at Buckingham Palace and presented jubilee medals. Later, on a free day, Glasgow went down to Knightsbridge and posed for a photograph in the company of a civilian friend or relative.29 He wore his Queensland Mounted Infantry uniform with the slouch hat and the emu feather, and stood, with one hand on his hip, gazing fiercely at the camera. The medal, his first, was proudly pinned on his chest.


On another occasion Glasgow went into a barbershop for a haircut. He was thrilled to see that the gentleman vacating the chair in front of him was none other than Rudyard Kipling, whose work he admired.30 Kipling already had a reputation with Plain Tales from the Hills, Soldiers Three and The Jungle Book. The British Empire was at its zenith, but Rudyard Kipling wrote a hymn for the Diamond Jubilee, the ‘Recessional’. It struck a warning note.


God of our fathers, known of old,


Lord of our far flung battle line,


Beneath whose awful Hand we hold,


Dominion over palm and pine –


Lord God of Hosts, be with us yet,


Lest we forget – lest we forget!


Far-called, our navies melt away;


On dune and headland sinks the fire:


Lo, all our pomp of yesterday


Is one with Nineveh and Tyre!


Judge of the nations, spare us yet,


Lest we forget – lest we forget!


On 23 July the Queensland contingent embarked for Australia. By the time he arrived home, Glasgow had been away for five months, and had learned enormously from this experience. He had witnessed what was, perhaps, the grandest spectacle that the world had ever seen, the spectacle of a united empire. He had observed a concentration of the Royal Navy and a large cross-section of the British and colonial armies, as well as many of the famous figures who commanded them. He was fully prepared for trouble, wherever in the Empire it occurred.


Even as Glasgow settled down once more to work in the bank at Gympie, trouble was brewing in the Empire, this time in South Africa. There, after a hundred years of British involvement, events would reach out and draw in the young man from Queensland.


The Dutch East India Company started Cape Town in 1652 as a supply base for its trade with the ‘East Indies’. White farmers (Boers), mainly Dutch, gradually settled the hinterland. When France conquered The Netherlands in 1795, Britain occupied the Cape Colony to keep it from the French. The Netherlands formally passed the Cape Colony to Britain in 1814. The British made English the only official language, gave the indigenous people equal rights and, in 1834, abolished slavery (which it had abolished at home in 1807) throughout its empire.


[image: image]


T W Glasgow, QMI Contingent, Knightsbridge, London, Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee, June 1897.


The Boers broke away from the British and made the Great Trek, settling north of the Orange and Vaal Rivers and establishing the Orange Free State and the Transvaal. Britain recognised the independence of both the Transvaal (1852) and the Orange Free State (1854).


In 1871 a rich diamond field was found not far from the confluence of the Vaal River with the Modder River and the Orange River. The town of Kimberley rapidly took shape there. Despite Boer claims to the Kimberley area, Britain annexed it in 1871. Cecil Rhodes, a young Englishman who was in South Africa to improve his health, went to Kimberley and in a short time made a substantial fortune.


Britain annexed the Transvaal in 1877, but the Boers revolted and defeated the British in battle at Majuba Hill on 27 February 1881. The Transvaal again became independent. The key military lesson for the British was the need for mounted infantry. It was precisely for this reason that young men in Queensland were practising this mode of warfare in the 1890s.
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